# **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAL 04-29-2013 II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

V.

JACK E. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant Appeal No. 12AP837-CR

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY THE HONORABLE JAMES R. KIEFFER, PRESIDING Circuit Court Case No. 2009CF001348

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Bucher Law Group, LLC. Thomas C. Simon Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No.: 1035239

355 Austin Circle, Suite 110 Delafield, Wisconsin 53018 262-303-4916

#

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE RELATE TO THE ILLEGAL SEARCH OF HIS RESIDENCE IN MEXICO.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about October 1 ,2009, Kimberly A. Smith was found murdered in her residence by her boyfriend, Timothy McMickle. R1:1. Through the course of the investigation surrounding the homicide, law enforcement authorities identified Smith's ex-husband, Darren Wold, Justin Welch and Johnson as suspects in the death of Smith. *Id.* at 2-4.

It was alleged that Johnson, who was living in Mexico at the time, assisted in the commission of the crime by coordinating funds, airline tickets and transportation for Welch. *Id.* at 3-4. Johnson was a long time friend of Wold, having known him for over twenty years. *Id.* at 3.

Specifically, it was alleged that Johnson purchased a plane ticket under the name of "Ricky Freeman" which was an alias used by Welch. Id. The purchased ticket was for a flight departing San Diego, California on September 28, 2009 and arriving in Milwaukee, Wisconsin with a change of plane in St. Louis, Missouri, on the evening of that same day. Id. An additional ticket was alleged to have been purchased by Johnson for a return flight leaving Milwaukee, Wisconsin on October 1, 2009, with a change of planes in Dallas-Fort Worth, Texas, and arriving in San Diego, California that same evening. Id.

It was also alleged that on September 28, 2009, Johnson along with an individual using the Freeman alias crossed the border from Mexico into the U.S. *Id.* During the time period of September 28, 2009 through October 1, 2009 multiple calls were made from the Lake County Inn, where the individual using the Freeman alias was staying, to Johnson's cell phone. *Id.* at 4.

Johnson was reported to have crossed the border from the U.S. back into Mexico on the afternoon of October 1, 2009.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Johnson was charged on November 19, 2009 in a single count complaint of First-Degree Intentional Homicide, as a Party to a Crime under Wis. Stats. §§ 940.01 (1)(a) and 939.05, respectively. R1.

Following a multiple day preliminary hearing, Johnson was bound over for trial on the above complaint. R94, 95, 97, 98. At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing the State filed the information pursuant to the above. R13.

Pertinent to this appeal, Johnson filed a motion to suppress challenging the search of his residence in Mexico on March 15, 2011. R27. On May 31, 2011 the circuit court held a hearing to receive evidence on Johnson's motion to suppress. R99. On July 1, 2011 the court held a hearing regarding the above motion but did not render a decision. R118. On August 8, 2011 the circuit court issued an oral ruling granting in part, and denying in part, Johnson's motion to suppress. R125.

Beginning on October 14, 2011 and ending on November 2, 2011 the circuit court held a jury trial, at the conclusion of which Johnson was found guilty. R110,111,115-117,120-124,126,127,129.

On December 2, 2011 Johnson was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of extended supervision. R128.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The court applies a two step process in reviewing a motion to suppress. State v. Pallone, 2000 WI 77,  $\P$  27, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568 (citing State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5,  $\P\P$  16-18, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552). The court will review the findings related to the facts of analyzed by the circuit court to determine if the circuit court's ruling was clearly erroneous. Id. at  $\P$  27. The court will then review de novo the application of those facts to constitutional principles. Id.

### Argument

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE RELATE TO THE ILLEGAL SEARCH OF HIS RESIDENCE IN MEXICO.

The suppression of evidence has an established history in the State of Wisconsin as well as in the federal courts.

"The exclusionary rule is a judicially created remedy, not a right, and its application is restricted to cases where its remedial objectives will be best served." State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶35, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 270-271, 786 N. W.2d 97, 107 (citing Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 129 S.Ct. 695, 700, 172 L.Ed.2d 496 (2009) and Arizona v. Evans, 514 U.S. 1, 10-11, 115 S.Ct. 1185, 131 L.Ed2d 34 (1995)). Violation of a Fourth Amendment right does not necessarily lead to exclusion. Id. In deciding to apply the exclusionary rule, courts should focus on deterring violations of the Fourth future Amendment by law enforcement and weigh the benefits against the costs of "The exclusionary rule is a judge-made one in Id. furtherance of conduct that courts have considered to be in the public interest and to suppress conduct that is not." Conrad v. State, 63 Wis. 2d 616, 636, 218 N.W.2d 252 (1974).

Courts must consider the actions of law enforcement in analyzing the totality of the circumstances and whether the

exclusionary rule should apply. "The test of whether the officers' reliance was reasonable is an objective one, querying "whether a reasonably well trained officer would have known that the search was illegal' in light of 'all the circumstances." Id. at ¶ 36, 327 Wis. 2d at 271-272, 786 N.W.2d at 107 (citing Herring, 129 S. Ct. at 703 (quoting United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 922 n. 23, 104 S. Ct. 3405 (1984)).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has adopted a good faith exception to the exclusionary rule as it applies to the validity and/or legality of a search warrant. burden is upon the State to show that the process used in obtaining the search warrant included a significant investigation and review by either a police officer trained and knowledgeable in the requirements of probable cause and reasonable suspicion, or a knowledgeable government attorney." State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 74, 629 Wis. 2d 206, 267, 629 N.W.2d 625, 653. The Wisconsin Supreme Court also concluded that the above process is part of the protections afforded to individuals under the Wisconsin Constitution, Article I, Section 11 and set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 104 S. Ct. 3405.

"We see no reason in logic, justice, or in that innate sense of fair play which lies at the foundation of such quarantees, why a court of justice, rejecting as abhorrent the idea of the use of evidence extorted by violation of a defendant's right to be secure in person and exempt from selfincrimination though it may result in murder going unwhipt of justice, should yet approve of the use, in the same court of justice, by state officers, of that which has been obtained by other state officers through, and by, a plain violation of constitutional quarantees of equal standing and value, though thereby possibly a violation of the prohibition law may go unpunished."

Hoyer v. State, 180 Wis. 2d 407, 417, 193 N.W.2d 89 (1923).

"[E]ven where an officer has obtained a warrant and abided by its terms, exclusion may be appropriate." Eason, 2001 WI 98 at ¶ 36 (citing Leon, 468 U.S. at 922, 104 S. Ct. 3405). "The standard of objective reasonableness requires, among other things, that police officers have a reasonable knowledge of what the law prohibits." Id. (citing Leon, 468 U.S. at 919 n. 20, 104 S. Ct. 3405).

Furthermore, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that the Wisconsin Constitution, Article I, Section 11 requires the above process and that "the Wisconsin Constitution may afford greater protection than the United States Constitution." State v. Hansford, 219 Wis. 2d 226, 242, 580 N.W.2d 171 (1998).

The Ninth Circuit addressed the reasonableness issue in United States v. Peterson, 812 F.  $(1987)^{1}$ . 2d 486 The Peterson court held that American officers could rely on foreign law enforcement whether foreign law has been complied with. The court did not, however, find that an "objectively unreasonable reliance" foreign on law enforcement representations as to law granted American officers with immunity from the exclusionary rule. Id.

In Peterson the court determined that the search and American law by enforcement was objectively reasonable because officers sought out and assurances from high ranking law enforcement officials in the Philippines that the necessary authorizations had been received prior to the search and seizure. Id.

In the case at bar, the circuit court provided a detailed record of its reasoning in denying Johnson's motion to suppress the evidence obtained through the search of his apartment in Mexico<sup>2</sup>. A review of the detailed ruling of the circuit court shows that the court erred in not granting Johnson's motion to suppress.

<sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court correctly determined that, under *Peterson*, the search of Johnson's apartment in Mexico was a joint operation between the Mexican authorities and detectives from the Waukesha County Sheriff's

Department, The City of Oconomowoc and the San Diego Police Department.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The circuit court granted Johnson's motion to suppress in part by determining that exigent circumstances did not exist and could not be relied on by the State as a basis for justifying the search on Johnson's residence in Mexico. R125:33-34.

To begin, the circuit court was unable to determine what the burden was on the State and the evidence/case law necessary to support the State's proposition that the search was legal and fell within any excepts to the warrant requirement. R125:41-43. It is clear from the record that the State did not provide the court with any case law or documents that could have assisted the court in reaching its ruling. Id. In fact, the only documentation submitted the court relative to this issue was submitted by Johnson's trial counsel. Id. The materials submitted by trial counsel stated that under the Mexican constitution a warrant was required to search Johnson's residence. 42. The State did not provide the court with any law to support the contention that the search of Johnson's residence was an exception recognized by Mexico or its constitution. Id. at 41-42.

Without being able to state with specificity that an exception existed under the Mexican constitution that allowed a warrantless search of Johnson's Mexican residence, the circuit court found that the search was valid based on consent of the landlord. *Id.* at 43-44. As a result of the State providing no documentation or law to support its contention that the consent of the landlord was a valid exception to the Mexican constitution the circuit

court was left with determining that officers involved relied on advice from other agencies based on hearsay evidence and testimony. *Id.* at 44-45.

The key in Johnson's case is whether the search of his residence in Mexico was based on an objectively reasonable belief of the officers that the search was valid under Mexican law.

From the testimony presented by the State in support of the search, it was brought forth that this was the first search of a residence in Mexico that the border liaison official in. had ever been involved R99:35-36. Furthermore, testimony showed that it could take six to twelve months to obtain a proper search warrant for the search of a residence in Mexico. Id. at 36-37. Additional testimony was that obtaining a warrant could take as little as four months or as long as two to three years. Id. at The border liaison officer testified as to the 36-37. proper procedure required for obtaining a warrant. 37-38. From the testimony, it is clear that there was no warrant issued for the search of Johnson's residence in Mexico. Id. at 38.

The statements made by the border liaison officer are telling in that they describe the difficulties in obtaining a warrant which is what most likely precipitated proceeding

without a warrant under the theory of landlord consent. Specifically, the officer testified that:

"...It takes a long time to get through - to go through the process. There is always one change that someone wants. It goes back and forth.

It is a nightmare of a process, and that's why a lot of people think they can go to Mexico to hide, because it is - it is such a difficult administrative process to make all of this stuff happen, but we do it."

Id. at 36.

The basis for the circuit court's determination that the search was valid was based solely on the theory that the consent of the landlord was an exception to the warrant requirement under Mexican law. The officers from the U.S. did not speak directly to any officials in Mexico who were in a position to make such a determination. The closest U.S. authorities came to confirmation was multi-level hearsay that a non-attorney, liaison officer in Mexico spoke with the Mexican attorney general who stated that landlord consent was an exception. Id. at 25-29, 40-41. documentation was provided to U.S. authorities support this contention and no U.S. authorities spoke to the attorney general's office despite the fact that the U.S. authorities were familiar with the warrant process.

As previously stated, the case at bar differs from Peterson in that there was direct communication between U.S. authorities and "high ranking" officials in Philippines. 812 F. 2d 486. The circuit court came to its ruling by assuming that landlord consent was a valid the Mexican constitution's exception to This is also important because Johnson's requirement. residence was not an apartment located within an apartment complex; rather, it was a free-standing, two bedroom house. R99:49. Without the benefit of specific exceptions to the warrant requirement in Mexico, the circuit court could not have reached the conclusion it did in validating the search of Johnson's residence.

It is generally recognized in the U.S. that landlords are not able to give valid consent to the search of a residence rented out to a lessee. See United States v. Impink, 728 F. 2d 1228 (1984). Knowing this, the burden should have been on law enforcement initially to do more than rely on third party hearsay before proceeding with the search of Johnson's residence in Mexico. Especially after learning that there was in fact a procedure for obtaining a valid warrant for the search of a residence in Mexico.

#### CONCLUSION