# **RECEIVED**

06-26-2013

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2012AP837-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACK E. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES R. KIEFFER, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING JOHNSON'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

#### A. Relevant law.

1. The exclusionary rule does not always apply to evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. *Eason*, 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶16. "Subject to a few well-delineated exceptions, warrantless searches are deemed per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶11, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371.

Simply because a Fourth Amendment violation occurs, however, courts are not compelled to apply the exclusionary rule to suppress the evidence. *Herring v. United States*, 555 U.S. 135, 141 (2009). Indeed, exclusion is an appropriate remedy only where it "result[s] in appreciable deterrence." *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 909 (1984) (quoted source omitted). Thus, the focus of whether to apply the exclusionary rule is on its effectiveness in deterring subsequent Fourth Amendment violations. *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 141; *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶35, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97.

In addition, merely marginal deterrence is not sufficient to justify application of the exclusionary rule. Herring, 555 U.S. at 141. Rather, courts must ensure that the benefits of the deterrence outweigh the often substantial costs of releasing possibly dangerous defendants, limiting the court's truth-seeking function, law enforcement objectives. curtailing Accordingly, that substantial cost "presents a high obstacle for those urging [the exclusionary rule's] application." Id. (internal quotation marks and source omitted).

2. The good faith exception permits the use of evidence from a foreign search when domestic law enforcement reasonably relies on foreign representations of compliance with their law.

Federal courts have recognized that, generally, Fourth Amendment principles do not extend to searches in a foreign country by that country's authorities, even when the target of the search is a United States citizen. *United States v. Peterson*, 812 F.2d 486, 490 (9th Cir. 1987). However, if United States law enforcement agents' involvement in the search "is so substantial that the action is a joint venture between United States and foreign officials, the law of the foreign country must be consulted at the outset as part of the determination whether or not the search was reasonable." *Id*.

Even though foreign law governs whether the search was reasonable, United States law governs whether evidence obtained illegally should be excluded. *Id.* at 491. Because the focus of that inquiry "is whether exclusion serves the rationale of deterring [state or federal law

enforcement] from unlawful conduct[,]" courts consider whether the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies. *Id.* at 491-92.

First enunciated by the United States Supreme Court in *United States v. Leon*, the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule permits the admission of illegally obtained evidence pursuant to an invalid warrant when officers have an objectively reasonable belief that the warrant was issued properly. 468 U.S. at 922-23. The Ninth Circuit concluded that the rationale behind the good-faith exception—limiting the exclusion of evidence to situations where it is necessary to deter law enforcement misconduct—likewise applied to domestic law enforcement's reasonable reliance on representations of foreign officials regarding the interpretation of their foreign law:

The good faith exception is grounded in the realization that the exclusionary rule does not function as a deterrent in cases in which the law enforcement officers acted on a reasonable belief that their conduct was legal. It is true . . . that Leon speaks only in terms of good faith reliance on a facially valid search warrant. That is not dispositive, however. We conclude that the reasoning applies as well to reliance on foreign law enforcement officers' representations that there has been compliance with their own law. American law enforcement officers were not in an advantageous position to judge whether the search was lawful, as would have been the case in a domestic setting. Holding them to a strict liability standard for failings of their foreign associates would be even more incongruous than holding law enforcement officials to a strict liability standard as to the adequacy of domestic warrants...

. . . [P]ermitting reasonable reliance on representations about foreign law is a rational accommodation to the exigencies of foreign investigations.

Peterson, 812 F.2d at 492 (citation omitted).

3. Wisconsin courts have likewise adopted the good-faith exception.

Wisconsin courts have also recognized the goodfaith exception to the exclusionary rule. See, e.g., Eason, 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶52 (applied to search made pursuant to an invalid no-knock search warrant); State v. Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶¶49-50, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517 (applied to warrantless search made in compliance with later-invalidated law). Although traditionally Wisconsin courts have interpreted the protections under article I, section 11 identically with federal Fourth Amendment law, the court in Eason concluded that the Wisconsin Constitution affords additional protections than the Fourth Amendment provides under the Leon good-faith exception as it applies to search warrants. 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶60. Specifically, the *Eason* court held that "for the good faith exception to apply, the State must show that the process used attendant to obtaining the search warrant included a significant investigation and a review by a police officer trained in, or very knowledgeable of, the legal vagaries of probable cause and reasonable suspicion, knowledgeable government attorney." *Id.* ¶63.

Whether those enhanced protections announced in *Eason* apply to foreign searches where there is no warrant and where state law enforcement relies on foreign law enforcement assurances of compliance with foreign law is unclear, but seems unlikely. Wisconsin appellate courts have distinguished the *Eason* rule as being specific to cases involving a search warrant. *See, e.g., Dearborn,* 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶14 n.7 (noted that *Eason* was limited to situations involving a no-knock warrant); *State v. Loranger,* 2002 WI App 5, ¶16, 250 Wis. 2d 198, 640 N.W.2d 555 (stating that the *Eason* rule does not apply to warrantless searches involving law enforcement reliance on subsequently overruled law).

In summary, *Peterson* indicates that when a suppression issue stems from a foreign search, courts

consider three questions: (1) Was the investigation a "joint" effort involving United States law enforcement, thus bringing the search within the purview of the Fourth Amendment; if so, (2) was the search reasonable under foreign law; if not, (3) did domestic law enforcement objectively reasonably rely on representations by foreign officials that the search was legal? 812 F.2d at 490. In addition, to the extent that *Eason* applies to such a situation, for the good-faith exception to apply under article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, law enforcement must have engaged in a significant investigation involving a knowledgeable government attorney. 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶63.

B. The circuit court correctly concluded that Waukesha law enforcement satisfied *Leon* and *Eason* by objectively relying on representations by appropriate foreign officials.

As for the first question under *Peterson*, there is no dispute that the search of Johnson's house was a joint effort involving various United States and Mexican authorities. Based on Eckel's testimony, the search involved both Mexican police and domestic law enforcement (99:24). Because of that, the Fourth Amendment applied to the search.

As for the second question, it is not clear on this record whether the warrantless search of Johnson's residence based on his landlord's consent was indeed legal under Mexican and Baja California law. In issuing its ruling, the circuit court assumed the search did not comply with Mexican law, given that the State did not provide it with any research or other documentation setting forth the exceptions to the warrant requirement under Mexican law (125:42; A-Ap. 32). Rather, the State and the court focused on the third question under *Peterson* and *Eason*—

whether there was reasonable reliance to permit the good-faith exception to apply (125:48-50, A-Ap. 38-40).<sup>3</sup>

Here, the circuit court correctly concluded that Waukesha police objectively reasonably relied on foreign official representations that they could search Johnson's residence with the landlord's consent. Waukesha police took objectively reasonable preliminary steps: They contacted Eckel, an FBI agent whose responsibility was to act as a liaison between state and Mexican law enforcement and over cross-border law-enforcement issues. As Eckel testified, he had several years' experience dealing with such issues and he had a degree in Spanish language translation and interpretation to assist him in his responsibilities (99:21-22).

Eckel also took objectively reasonable preliminary steps: Eckel indicated that when confronted with questions like the one from the Waukesha police, his standard procedure was to call his contact at the Attorney General's office in the relevant Mexican state (99:30-33). In this case, that contact was Quinones, a person that Eckel had worked with in the past and whom Eckel knew to have a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Johnson argues that the circuit court concluded or assumed that the search was valid based on the consent of the landlord, even though the State did not present any law supporting the theory that landlord consent was a valid exception in Mexico to the warrant requirement (Johnson's br. at 11-12, 14).

Johnson misreads the circuit court's opinion. In its decision, the circuit court laid out two potential alternative holdings that it could hold either: (1) that the search was legal under Mexican law and thus no Fourth Amendment violation occurred (125:42-44; A-Ap. 32-34); or (2) alternatively, assuming the search was illegal under Mexican law, that Waukesha officers objectively reasonably relied on foreign representations of their law in compliance with *Peterson* and *Eason*, and that suppression under the circumstances would not serve to deter future official misconduct (125:44-50; A-Ap. 34-40). After setting forth those holdings, the circuit court explained that it believed that the latter approach—i.e., that the search was *not* necessarily legal but that suppression was not warranted based on the good-faith exception in *Peterson* and *Eason*—was correct under the circumstances (125:52; A-Ap. 42).

close working relationship with the Baja California Attorney General (99:30-31). Eckel emphasized to Quinones the importance that the search of Johnson's residence comport with Mexican law so that U.S. authorities could safely use any evidence found there in U.S. courts (99:25, 40; A-Ap. 5, 15).

Further, Eckel reasonably relied on Quinones' next communication indicating that Quinones had talked directly to the Attorney General about the matter and that landlord consent was sufficient to allow the search of Johnson's residence. Eckel was a government lawyer with past experience working with Quinones and the Baja California Attorney General. Nothing in the record suggests that Eckel had reason to disbelieve Quinones' representations as to Mexican law, especially in light of the fact that Eckel emphasized to Quinones the importance that the search be legal under Mexican law.

Finally, there is nothing about the search itself that raised red flags to suggest that Quinones' explanation of the law or Eckel's understanding of it was incorrect. Eckel and Waukesha officers saw the landlord at the residence and saw him open the door for officers (99:30, 48). The Waukesha police, in conducting the search, acted pursuant to the Rosarito police commander's requests to allow his team to secure the building first and to allow the commander to pre-approve the items that they wished to seize (99:43-44, 45-46, 50). *Cf. United States v. Stokes*, 710 F. Supp. 2d 689, 703 (N.D. Ill. 2009) (in applying rule from *Peterson*, noting that U.S. officials did not engage in misconduct requiring suppression where they assisted in a search pursuant to a Thai warrant and under the instructions of Thai police).

In all, the record demonstrates that Waukesha officers—through appropriate federal channels—sought and obtained assurances from the high-ranking authorities in the Baja California Attorney General's office that searching Johnson's rental residence with the landlord's consent complied with Mexican law. Their reliance on

those authorities was objectively reasonable under the circumstances pursuant to *Leon* and *Peterson*. Accordingly, assuming that the search violated the Fourth Amendment, suppression of the evidence was not required to deter official misconduct.

As noted above, the enhanced protections set forth under *Eason* likely do not apply to this situation where the search occurred without a warrant. Wisconsin courts have limited Eason's application to situations involving warrants. See, e.g., Dearborn, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶14 n.7; Loranger, 250 Wis. 2d 198, ¶16. Further, the Eason standard is specific to situations involving warrants, a process in which law enforcement is involved and thus has the ability (and heightened responsibility) to ensure that the warrant is valid. See State v. Hess, 2010 WI 82, ¶57, 327 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 568 ("[T]he Eason requirements for the good-faith exception were crafted for search warrants and may not be applicable to all warrants for arrest, especially in situations where a law enforcement agency is not in the picture."). In contrast, when a foreign search is involved, domestic law enforcement is at a disadvantage to investigate or assess foreign officials' representations of foreign law. Accordingly, applying Eason to a foreign search is an awkward exercise at best.

That said, even if *Eason* did apply, the circuit court likewise correctly concluded that the steps taken here by the Waukesha police and Eckel satisfied *Eason* (125:51; A-Ap. 41). Here, Special Agent Eckel contacted Quinones, with whom he had worked in the past on his job as a liaison between domestic and Mexican law enforcement (99:24-25). The court found that Eckel, through his experience working with Mexican authorities as an FBI agent, was a knowledgeable government attorney and that his communications with Quinones involved a significant investigation into the legality of United States authorities searching Johnson's residence in Mexico (125:50-51; A-Ap. 41-42). There was no misconduct here; excluding the evidence under these

circumstances would do nothing to deter future misconduct. Accordingly, the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies to the extent that a separate Wisconsin constitutional analysis under *Eason* is required here.

# C. Johnson's arguments to the contrary are without merit.

Johnson argues that Eckel's description of the time-consuming process of obtaining a search warrant in Mexico "most likely precipitated proceeding without a warrant under the theory of landlord consent" (Johnson's br. at 12-13). The State is unsure what Johnson's precise point is. Eckel clearly described the lengthy warrant application process and essentially stated that he called the Attorney General's office in Baja California to learn if there was a legal way—other than getting a warrant—for police to search Johnson's rental home. There is nothing about that action by Eckel to suggest that he or Waukesha police unreasonably relied on the Attorney General's advice that landlord consent was a valid exception to the warrant requirement.

Johnson complains that domestic law enforcement did not speak directly to or receive documentation from Mexican officials who could make a determination as to the legality of landlord consent to search (Johnson's br. at 13). He says that this case is distinguishable from *Peterson* because in that case, United States authorities spoke "directly" to high-ranking officials in the Philippines (Johnson's br. at 14).

As an initial matter, the facts in *Peterson* indicate simply that U.S. officials contacted Philippine authorities to alert them that a ship allegedly carrying drugs was en route to the Philippines. 812 F.2d at 488. Philippine authorities conducted wire taps on one of the suspects who lived in the Philippines and provided U.S. officials with that information, which those officials later used to

intercept the ship. *Id.* at 488-89. Whether the United States officials in that case spoke "directly" to high-ranking officials—or through liaisons or assistants—is neither fleshed out nor a dispositive point in *Peterson*.

Furthermore, it is unclear how an attempt by the Waukesha Sheriff's Department—an office it is safe to assume rarely works directly, if at all, with foreign governments—to work directly with the Baja California Attorney General's Office would have produced more reasonably reliable results. Given that, the Waukesha Sheriff's Department's reliance on a federal agent whose job was to facilitate such interactions was objectively reasonable. Finally, obtaining documents or written confirmation is not a prerequisite under *Peterson* or *Eason* for a court to find that domestic officers reasonably relied on foreign representations interpreting foreign law.

In summary, even assuming the search of Johnson's Rosarito residence violated the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin constitution, domestic law enforcement involved in the investigation had an objectively reasonable reliance on the representations of high-ranking Mexican officials that the search was legal. Accordingly, the good-faith exception applies and the circuit court properly concluded that suppression was not warranted under the circumstances.

# **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks that this court affirm the judgment of conviction.